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Independent Auditor's Report

To the Shareholders of PPX Mining Corp.

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of PPX Mining Corp. (the "Group"), which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at September 30, 2023 and September 30, 2022 and the
consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income, cash flows and changes in shareholders' equity
(deficiency) for the years then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at September 30, 2023 and September 30, 2022, and its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in Canada, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern

We draw attention to Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements which describes the material uncertainty
that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified
in respect of this matter. 

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the year ended September 30, 2023.  In addition to the matter described
in the Material uncertainty related to going concern section, we have determined the matters described below to
be a key audit matter to be communicated in our report. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters.



Recoverability of Exploration and Evaluation Assets

As disclosed in Note 8 of the consolidated financial statements, the carrying value of Exploration and Evaluation
Assets represents a significant asset of the Group.  Refer to Note 3 and Note 4 of the consolidated financial
statements for a description of the accounting policy and significant judgments applied to Exploration and
Evaluation Assets.

At each reporting period end, management applies judgment in assessing whether there are any indicators of
impairment relating to mining claims and deferred exploration costs. If there are indicators of impairment, the
recoverable amount of the related asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of any impairment.
Indicators of impairment may include (i) the period during which the entity has the right to explore in the specific
area has expired during the year or will expire in the near future and is not expected to be renewed; (ii)
substantive expenditure on further exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the specific area is
neither budgeted nor planned; (iii) exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the specific area have
not led to the discovery of commercially viable quantities of mineral resources and the entity has decided to
discontinue such activities in the specific area; and (iv) sufficient data exists to indicate that the carrying amount
of the mining claims and deferred exploration costs is unlikely to be recovered in full from successful
development or by sale.  No impairment indicators were identified by management as at September 30, 2023.

Why the matter was determined to be a key audit matter:
We considered this a key audit matter due to (i) the significance of the exploration and evaluation asset balance
and (ii) the judgments made by management in its assessment of indicators of impairment related to mining
claims and deferred exploration costs, which have resulted in a high degree of subjectivity in performing audit
procedures related to these judgments applied by management.

How the matter was addressed in our audit:
We have evaluated management’s assessment of impairment indicators per IFRS 6, Exploration for and
Evaluation of Mineral Resources, including but not limited to:

- Reviewing the Group’s rights to the relevant claims and assessing whether the rights remained current at the
reporting period date;
- Obtaining, by reference to government registries, evidence to support claim expiration dates;
- Enquiring with management and reviewing its future plans and other documentation as evidence that further
exploration and evaluation activities in the area of interest will be continued in the future;
- Assessing whether any data exists to suggest that the carrying value of the Exploration and Evaluation assets is
unlikely to be recovered through development or sale; and
- Assessing the adequacy of the related disclosures in Note 3, Note 4 and Note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Environmental Rehabilitation Provisions

We draw attention to Notes 3, 4 and 13 to the consolidated financial statements. The Group makes a provision
for the future cost of environment rehabilitation related to current and past site exploration activities.  The
calculation and recognition of the provision in the consolidated financial statements requires a number of
significant assumptions, including estimation of the costs and timing of rehabilitation.

Why the matter was determined to be a key audit matter:
We considered the Group’s environmental rehabilitation provision a key audit matter due to higher professional
judgmental by management when assessing this obligation, including assessment of the nature and extent of
future work to be performed, the future cost of performing the rehabilitation work, the timing of when the
rehabilitation will take place and economic assumptions such as discount rate and inflation rates applied to future
cash outflows associated with rehabilitation activities to bring them to their present value. Auditing these
assumptions involved subjective audit judgment due to the nature and extent of audit procedures required to
address these matters.



How the matter was addressed in our audit:
In responding to the key audit matter, we performed the following audit procedures, amongst others:

- Obtaining an understanding of management's process to develop their estimate; 
- Engaging with a subject matter expert to assist us in the valuation of the assumptions, methodology and data
used by the Group;
- Evaluating and testing the significant assumptions in the calculations of the provision;
- Verifying the accuracy of the estimate; 
- Comparing assumptions including the risk-free rate and inflation rate to current and market data; and
- Evaluating the adequacy of the Group's disclosures relating to the environmental rehabilitation provision.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises:

• Management's Discussion and Analysis

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. 

We obtained the other information prior to the date of this auditor's report.  If, based on the work we have
performed on this other information, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact in this auditor's report.  We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 



As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Pejman Mahlooji.

Chartered Professional Accountants
Vancouver, Canada
January 29, 2024

 



PPX Mining Corp.
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

As at As at
September 30, September 30,

2023 2022

ASSETS

Current assets
Cash $ 803,751 $ 1,345,207
Restricted cash 2,010 745,496
Receivable (note 7) 1,522,883 590,244
Prepaids and advances 27,928 5,331

Total current assets 2,356,572 2,686,278

Non-current assets
Exploration and evaluation assets (note 8) 8,819,586 7,696,580
Property, plant and equipment (note 8) 1,444,765 1,378,477

Total assets $ 12,620,923 $ 11,761,335

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIENCY)

Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (notes 9 & 16) $ 1,363,267 $ 2,247,356
Convertible note (note 11(b)) - 1,949,963
Promissory notes (note 10) 181,781 2,081,746
Gold stream facility (note 11(a)) 590,664 7,401,706
Environmental rehabilitation provision (note 13) 352,119 254,721

Total current liabilities 2,487,831 13,935,492

Non-current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 9) 67,600 -
Convertible debenture (note 12) 5,086,098 -
Derivative liability (note 12) 2,133,864 -
Gold stream facility (note 11(a)) 743,245 -
Environmental rehabilitation provision (note 13) 476,439 421,831

Total liabilities 10,995,077 14,357,323

Shareholders' equity (deficiency)
Share capital (note 14) 65,853,341 62,280,625
Reserves (note 14) 7,868,113 7,466,854
Deficit (72,095,608) (72,343,467)

Total shareholders' equity (deficiency) 1,625,846 (2,595,988)

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity $ 12,620,923 $ 11,761,335

Nature of operations and going concern (note 1)
Commitments and contingencies (note 18)
Subsequent events (note 20)

Approved on behalf of the Board:

/s/ John Thomas /s/ Florian Siegfried

Director Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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PPX Mining Corp.
Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

Year Ended
September 30,

2023 2022

Operating expenses
Communication and regulatory $ 122,372 $ 375,362
Consulting fees, salaries and benefits (note 16) 498,639 1,098,954
Depreciation (note 8) 6,162 197
Office and miscellaneous 289,005 106,218
Premises 11,321 5,592
Professional fees (note 16) 509,841 436,467
Share based payments (notes 14 & 16) 403,286 407,735
Travel and promotion 62,047 120,885

Loss from operations (1,902,673) (2,551,410)

Finance and other items
Loss on derivative liability revaluation (note 12) (819,111) -
Loss on revaluation of property, plant and equipment (13,207) -
Finance expense and other (note 6) (639,316) (515,569)
Foreign exchange gain (loss) 119,516 (1,167,050)
Gain on debt settlement (notes 9, 10 & 11) 662,041 109,646
Gold streaming expense (note 11(a)) (2,365,938) (1,428,529)
Net profit interest income (note 8) 8,689,598 5,852,396
Net smelter royalty (542,781) -

Net income before tax 3,188,129 299,484
Income tax expense (note 19) (2,940,270) -

Net income $ 247,859 $ 299,484

Other comprehensive (loss) income
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (2,027) 107,776

Total comprehensive income $ 245,832 $ 407,260

Basic and diluted income per share $ 0.00 $ 0.00

Weighted average number of common shares  outstanding (basic and diluted) 580,375,451 510,907,126

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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PPX Mining Corp.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

Year Ended
September 30,

2023 2022

Operating activities
Net income for the year $ 247,859 $ 299,484
Adjustments for:

Accretion expense 295,311 49,668
Depreciation 6,162 197
Foreign exchange (gain) loss (119,516) 1,167,050
Loss on derivative liability revaluation 819,111 -
Loss on revaluation of property, plant and equipment 13,207 -
Gain on debt settlement (662,041) (109,646)
Gold streaming expense 2,365,938 1,428,529
Interest expense 337,734 264,283
Net profit interest income (8,689,598) (5,852,396)
Net smelter royalty 542,781 -
Share based payments 403,286 407,735

(4,439,766) (2,345,096)
Changes in non-cash operating working capital:

Increase in receivables 485,321 (380,811)
Increase in prepaids (22,597) (4,741)
Decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities (1,022,958) (2,089,983)

Net cash flow used in operating activities (5,000,000) (4,820,631)

Financing activities
Payments for private placement share issuance costs - (17,198)
Gold stream facility payments (1,073,399) (509,329)
Convertible debenture principal payments (1,348,518) -

Net cash flow used in financing activities (2,421,917) (526,527)

Investing activities
Additions to exploration and evaluation assets, including changes in working capital (996,671) (872,012)
Additions to property, plant and equipment (135,061) (39,403)
Net profit interest received 7,271,638 8,214,144

Net cash flow from investing activities 6,139,906 7,302,729

Impact of foreign exchange on cash balances (2,931) (201,110)

Net change in cash and restricted cash (1,284,942) 1,754,461
Cash and restricted cash, beginning of year 2,090,703 336,242

Cash and restricted cash, end of year $ 805,761 $ 2,090,703

Composition of cash and restricted cash:
Cash $ 803,751 $ 1,345,207
Restricted cash 2,010 745,496

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 805,761 $ 2,090,703

Interest paid $ - $ 1,863,765
Income tax paid 1,519,672 -
Decrease (increase) in restricted cash $ 743,486 $ (605,473)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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PPX Mining Corp.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

Year Ended
September 30,

2023 2022

Non-cash investing and financing activities
Shares issued for settlement of payables $ 3,572,716 $ -
Convertible debenture issued 7,282,907 -
Increase in working capital related to mining assets - 24,228
Environmental rehabilitation provision adjustment 130,367 185,004
Revaluation of property, plant and equipment 41,578 -

$ 11,027,568 $ 209,232

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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PPX Mining Corp.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Equity (Deficiency)
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

           Share Capital                                                Reserves                                    

Accumulated
other

Number of Subscriptions Share based comprehensive Total Equity
shares Amount received Warrants payments Other (loss) Deficit (Deficiency)

Balance, September 30, 2021 508,869,541 $ 62,082,843 $ 154,514 $ 1,010,461 $ 7,105,173 $ 47,071 $ (1,211,362) $ (72,642,951) $ (3,454,251)
Private placement shares issued,
   net of share issuance costs 3,583,000 197,782 (154,514) - - - - - 43,268
Share-based payments - - - - 407,735 - - - 407,735
Net income - - - - - - - 299,484 299,484
Other comprehensive income - - - - - - 107,776 - 107,776

Balance, September 30, 2022 512,452,541 $ 62,280,625 $ - $ 1,010,461 $ 7,512,908 $ 47,071 $ (1,103,586) $ (72,343,467) $ (2,595,988)
Shares issued for settlement of
   payables 123,625,287 3,572,716 - - - - - - 3,572,716
Share-based payments - - - - 403,286 - - - 403,286
Net income - - - - - - - 247,859 247,859
Other comprehensive loss - - - - - - (2,027) - (2,027)

Balance, September 30, 2023 636,077,828 $ 65,853,341 $ - $ 1,010,461 $ 7,916,194 $ 47,071 $ (1,105,613) $ (72,095,608) $ 1,625,846

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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PPX Mining Corp. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Years Ended September 30, 2023 and 2022
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS

PPX Mining Corp. (“PPX Mining” or the “Company”) is a publicly listed company incorporated under the Alberta
Business Corporations Act on July 28, 1987; the Company’s shares are traded on the Toronto Venture Exchange (the
“TSX Venture Exchange”), and the Lima Stock Exchange (Bolsa De Valores De Lima). Following a number of name
changes the Company became Peruvian Precious Metals Corp. on July 2, 2013 and then PPX Mining Corp. on August
4, 2016. The head office, principal address and records office of the Company are located at 82 Richmond Street
East, Toronto, ON, Canada, M5C 1P1.

The Company is in the business of acquiring, exploring and evaluating mineral properties, and either joint venturing or
developing these properties further or disposing of them when the evaluation is completed. As its principal business,
the Company acquires and explores mineral properties in areas deemed to have relatively high potential for mining
success. The Company’s business plan is to engage in these mining activities on a long-term basis.

To maintain positive cash flow, the Company must rely on debt or equity financings, as well as proceeds from net profit
interest received from the assignment of the Igor 4 concession to fund its operations. To date the Company’s main
source of funding has been the issuance of equity securities and debt, through private placements within sophisticated
investors and through public offerings to institutional investors.

The consolidated financial statements (the "Financial Statements") have been prepared on the basis of accounting
principles applicable to a going concern. This assumes the Company will continue in operation for the foreseeable
future and will be able to realize its assets and discharge its obligations in the normal course of operations. The
Company has incurred operating losses since inception and has accumulated a deficit of $72,095,608 as at
September 30, 2023. As at September 30, 2023 the Company has cash of $803,751 and a negative working capital of
$131,259.

The Company needs to raise funds in order to continue on as a going concern and there can be no assurances that
sufficient funding, including adequate financing, will be available to cover its required funding or develop its mineral
properties and / or cover general and administrative expenses necessary for the maintenance of a public company.
The ability of the Company to arrange additional financing in the future depends in part, on the prevailing capital
market conditions and mineral property exploration success. The Company’s business may be affected by changes in
political and market conditions, such as interest rates, availability of credit, inflation rates, changes in laws,
interpretations of tax legislation in the emerging markets that the Company operates and national and international
circumstances. Recent geopolitical events and potential economic global challenges such as the risk of the higher
inflation and market volatility, may create further uncertainty and risk with respect to the prospects of the Company’s
business. These material uncertainties may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern. Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements do not give effect to adjustments that would be necessary
should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern and therefore be required to realize its assets and
liquidate its liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments other than in the normal course of business and at
amounts different from those in the consolidated financial statements.

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Statement of Compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). The consolidated financial
statements were approved by the Board of Directors of the Company on January 24, 2024.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for certain
financial instruments measured at fair value, as set out in the accounting policies in note 3.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Company’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 4.
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PPX Mining Corp. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Years Ended September 30, 2023 and 2022
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies are described below:

a) Basis of presentation and consolidation

These consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries.
Subsidiaries are those entities controlled by the Company. Control exists when the Company is exposed to or has
rights to the variable returns from the subsidiary and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
subsidiary. Power is defined as existing rights that give the Company the ability to direct the relevant activities of the
subsidiary. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the
date that control is transferred to the Company to the date control ceases. All intercompany transactions, balances,
income and expenses are eliminated in full upon consolidation.

An associate is an entity over which the Company has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an
interest in a joint venture. The Company is presumed to have significant influence if it holds, directly or indirectly, 20%
or more of the voting power of the investee. If the Company holds less than 20% of the voting power, other relevant
factors are examined by the Company to determine whether it has significant influence. The factors that may enable
the exercise of significant influence include the proportion of seats on the board being assigned to the Company,
nature of the business decisions that require unanimous consent of the directors, ability to influence the operating,
strategic and financing decisions and the existing ownership composition vis-à-vis the Company's ability to exercise
significant influence. The Company does not have any associates as at September 30, 2023 and 2022. The
subsidiaries of the Company as at September 30, 2023 and 2022 and their principal activities are described below:

The subsidiaries of the Company as at September 30, 2023 and 2022 and their principal activities are described
below:

Name Place of incorporation Ownership Interest Principal Activity

Sienna Minerals S.A.C Peru 100% Exploration

Agraria Huaranchal S.A.C. Peru 100% Exploration

On September 28, 2018, the Company signed a Usufruct and Options Agreement (the “Usufruct Agreement”), with
Igor Mining Exploration S.A.C (“IME”), a Peruvian entity owned by the Company’s lawyers in Peru. IME holds the title
to the land where the future processing plant will be built. The Usufruct Agreement provides the Company with the
same rights as the shareholders of IME and an option to acquire IME for 3,500 Peruvian Soles. Based on the fact that
the Company controls all strategic and day to day decisions of IME and IME’s key management personnel is
comprised of officers appointed by PPX Mining, the Company concluded that it has control over IME. Accordingly, IME
meets the criteria to be classified as a subsidiary. Commencing at the date of the signing of Usufruct agreement, the
financial results of IME were included in the consolidated results.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting periods as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. Where necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies of the Company’s
associates in line with those of the Company. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated upon
consolidation.

b) Foreign currency translation

The functional currency for each entity consolidated with the Company is determined by the currency of the primary
economic environment in which it operates. The consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars,
which is the Company’s reporting currency. The functional currency of the Company is the Canadian dollar while the
functional currency of its Peruvian subsidiaries is the United States (“US”) dollar. The functional currency
determinations were conducted through an analysis of the consideration factors identified in International Accounting
Standard (“IAS”) 21 “The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates”.
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PPX Mining Corp. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Years Ended September 30, 2023 and 2022
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

b) Foreign currency translation (continued)

In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognized at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated at the rate on the date of transaction.

Exchange differences arising on the translation of monetary items or on settlement of monetary items are recognized
in profit or loss in the year in which they arise. Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items
are recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) to the extent that gains and losses arising on those non-
monetary items are also recognized in other comprehensive income (loss). Where the non-monetary gain or loss is
recognized in profit or loss, the exchange component is also recognized in profit or loss.

The financial results and position of foreign operations whose functional currency is different from the Company’s
reporting currency are translated into the Company’s reporting currency at each reporting period with assets and
liabilities translated at period-end exchange rates prevailing at that reporting date and income and expenses using
monthly average exchange rates during the period.

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations are transferred directly to the Company’s exchange
difference on translating foreign operations on the Consolidated Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss and are
reported as a separate component of shareholders’ equity titled “Accumulated other comprehensive gain (loss) –
foreign currency translation”. These differences are recognized in the profit or loss in the year in which the operation is
disposed of.

c) Financial instruments

Recognition and Classification

The Company recognizes a financial asset or financial liability on the statement of financial position when it becomes
party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.

The Company classifies its financial instruments in the following categories: at fair value through profit and loss
(“FVTPL”), at fair value through other comprehensive income (loss) (“FVTOCI”) or at amortized cost. The Company
determines the classification of financial assets at initial recognition. The classification of debt instruments is driven by
the Company’s business model for managing the financial assets and their contractual cash flow characteristics.

Equity instruments that are held for trading are classified as FVTPL. For other equity instruments, on the day of
acquisition the Company can make an irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate them
as at FVTOCI. Financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost, unless they are required to be measured at FVTPL
(such as instruments held for trading or derivatives) or if the Company has opted to measure them at FVTPL.

The following table shows the classification of the Company financial assets and financial liabilities:
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PPX Mining Corp. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Years Ended September 30, 2023 and 2022
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

c) Financial instruments (continued)

Classification
Under IFRS9

Cash FVTPL

Restricted cash FVTPL

Receivables Amortized cost

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Amortized cost

Convertible note Amortized cost

Convertible debenture Amortized cost

Promissory notes Amortized cost

Gold stream facility FVTPL

Derivative liability FVTPL

Measurement

Financial assets and liabilities at FVTPL:
Financial assets and liabilities carried at FVTPL are initially recorded at fair value and transaction costs are expensed
in profit or loss. Realized and unrealized gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of the financial assets
and liabilities held at FVTPL are included in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. Where management has
opted to recognize a financial liability at FVTPL, any changes associated with the Company’s own credit risk will be
recognized in other comprehensive income (loss).

Financial assets at FVTOCI:
Elected investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs.
Subsequently they are measured at fair value, with gains and losses recognized in other comprehensive income
(loss).

Financial assets and liabilities at amortized cost:
Financial assets and liabilities at amortized cost are initially recognized at fair value plus or minus transaction costs,
respectively, and subsequently carried at amortized cost less any impairment.

Impairment of financial assets at amortized cost:
The Company recognizes a loss allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets that are measured at
amortized cost. At each reporting date, the Company measures the loss allowance for the financial asset at an amount
equal to the lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk on the financial asset has increased significantly since
initial recognition. If at the reporting date, the credit risk on the financial asset has not increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Company measures the loss allowance for the financial asset at an amount equal to the twelve
month expected credit losses. The Company shall recognize in profit or loss, as an impairment gain or loss, the
amount of expected credit losses (or reversal) that is required to adjust the loss allowance at the reporting date to the
amount that is required to be recognized.

Derecognition

Financial assets:
The Company derecognizes financial assets only when the contractual rights to cash flows from the financial assets
expire, or when it transfers the financial assets and substantially all of the associated risks and rewards of ownership
to another entity. Gains and losses on derecognition are generally recognized in profit or loss. However, gains and
losses on derecognition of financial assets classified as FVTOCI remain within accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss).

- 13 -



PPX Mining Corp. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Years Ended September 30, 2023 and 2022
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

c) Financial instruments (continued)

Derecognition (continued)

Financial liabilities:
The Company derecognizes financial liabilities only when its obligations under the financial liabilities are discharged,
cancelled or expired. Generally, the difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognized and
the consideration paid and payable, including any non-cash assets, is recognized in profit or loss.

Fair values

The fair value of quoted investments is determined by reference to market prices at the close of business on the
statement of financial position date. Where there is no active market, fair value is determined using valuation
techniques.

These include using recent arm’s length market transactions; reference to the current market value of another
instrument which is substantially the same; discounted cash flow analysis; and pricing models.

Financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition are grouped into a hierarchy based on the
degree to which the fair value is observable as follows:

Level 1 fair value measurements are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that
are observable for the asset or liability either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or
liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

d) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and short-term money market instruments that are readily convertible to cash
with original terms of three months or less. As at September 30, 2023 and 2022 the Company did not have any cash
equivalents. As at September 30, 2023, the Company has $2,010 (September 30, 2022 - $745,496) in a separate
bank account that is restricted to be used to settle the future tax liability that may arise in the course of operations.

e) Mining interest and property, plant and equipment

Exploration and Evaluation Assets

Mineral exploration and evaluation costs are charged to operations in the period incurred until such time as the
property has been acquired or is under option, in which case subsequent exploration costs and costs incurred to
develop the property are capitalized.

Direct costs related to the acquisition of mineral property interests are capitalized on a property by property basis.
Property acquisition costs include cash expenses and the fair market value of common shares, based on the trading
price of the shares, issued for mineral properties interests, pursuant to the related property agreements. Payments
relating to a property acquired under an option or joint venture agreement, where payments are made at the sole
discretion of the Company, are recorded as mineral property costs upon payment.

Once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting the mineral resource from a property has been
determined, the property is considered to be a mine under development and is classified as “mines under
construction”. Exploration and evaluation assets are tested for impairment before the assets are transferred to
development properties.
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PPX Mining Corp. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Years Ended September 30, 2023 and 2022
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

e) Mining interest and property, plant and equipment (continued)

Upon commencement of commercial production of a mineral property, the related capitalized costs are amortized and
depleted on a unit-of-production basis using estimated proven and probable reserves of the mineral property.

Periodic reviews are made by management and where the long-term expectation is that the net carrying amount of
these capitalized exploration and development costs will not be recovered, the carrying amount is then written down
accordingly and the write-down amount charged to operations.

The amounts shown for exploration and evaluation assets represent acquisition and deferred exploration costs
incurred to date, on a property by property basis, and are not intended to reflect present or future values. It is
reasonably possible, based on existing knowledge, that change in future conditions could require a material change in
the recognized amount.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Cost includes the
purchase price and directly attributable costs to bring the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Where an item of equipment comprises major
components with different useful lives, the components are accounted for as separate items of equipment. The
carrying amounts of plant and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful
lives of the related assets. The significant classes of depreciable plant and equipment and their estimated useful lives
are as follows:

Category Rates
Office furniture 3 years
Computer equipment 2 years
Plant Life of mine
Land Not amortized

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year end and are adjusted if
appropriate.

f) Convertible debentures

The Company recognizes and presents separately the components of a hybrid financial instrument that both creates a
financial liability of the Company and grants an option to the holder of the instrument to convert it into a variable
number of common shares of the Company (a liability instrument). The conversion feature does not meet the fixed-for-
fixed criteria and therefore is an embedded derivative that is assessed separately from the host liability. On initial
recognition, the conversion feature of a financial instrument is recorded as a derivative liability measured first based on
its fair value at initial recognition. The host liability component is recognized initially as the difference between the fair
value of the hybrid financial instrument as a whole and the fair value of the conversion feature. Any directly attributable
transaction costs are allocated to the host liability. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, the host liability component of a hybrid financial instrument is measured at amortized
cost using the effective interest method. The conversion feature of a hybrid financial instrument is re-measured
subsequent to initial recognition at each reporting period. Interest related to the financial liability is recognized in profit
or loss. On conversion, the financial liability is reclassified to equity reserve and no gain or loss is recognized.
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PPX Mining Corp. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Years Ended September 30, 2023 and 2022
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

g) Impairment of assets

Non-financial assets that have an indefinite life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment
or whenever impairment indicators exist. Assets that are subject to amortization or depreciation are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
When indicators of impairment are present the recoverable amount of an asset is evaluated at the level of a cash
generating unit (“CGU”), the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets, where the recoverable amount of a CGU is the
greater of the CGU’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. An impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss
to the extent the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount.

In calculating the recoverable amount, if applicable, the Company uses discounted cash flow techniques to determine
fair value when it is not possible to determine fair value either by quotes from an active market or a binding sales
agreement. The determination of discounted cash flows is dependent on a number of factors, including future metal
prices, the amount of reserves, the cost of bringing the project into production, production schedules, production costs,
sustaining capital expenditures, and site closure, restoration and environmental rehabilitation costs. Additionally, the
reviews take into account factors such as political, social, legal, and environmental regulations. These factors may
change due to changing economic conditions or the accuracy of certain assumptions and, hence, affect the
recoverable amount.

The Company uses its best efforts to fully understand all of the aforementioned to make an informed decision based
upon historical and current facts surrounding the projects. Discounted cash flow techniques often require management
to make estimates and assumptions concerning reserves and expected future production revenues and expenses.

An impairment loss is reversed if there is an indication that there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no
impairment loss had been recognized. An impairment loss with respect to goodwill is never reversed.

h) Net profit interest

Net profit interest income is comprised of income earned in the period based on the agreement with the operator. The
Company has determined that income recognition occurs when the operator transfers the relevant commodity to the
end customer. Income is measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable or received, when management
can reliability estimate the amount, and there is reasonable certainty regarding its collectability, pursuant to the terms
of the agreement. In some instances, the Company will not have access to sufficient information to make a reasonable
estimation of consideration to which it expects to be entitled and, accordingly, income is not recognized until
management can make a reasonable estimate.

i) Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Company or its subsidiaries have a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a
result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of
the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period. If the effect of the time
value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the
liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as a finance
cost.

Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements, if not estimable and probable, and
are disclosed in notes to the financial statements unless their occurrence is remote. Contingent assets are not
recognized in the consolidated financial statements, but are disclosed in the notes if their recovery is deemed
probable.
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PPX Mining Corp. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Years Ended September 30, 2023 and 2022
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

i) Provisions (continued)

Environmental rehabilitation

Provisions for environmental rehabilitation (decommissioning and restoration) are made in respect of the estimated
future costs of closure and restoration and for environmental rehabilitation costs (which include the dismantling and
demolition of infrastructure, removal of residual materials and remediation of disturbed areas) in the accounting period
when the related environmental disturbance occurs. The provision is discounted using a pre-tax rate, and the
unwinding of the discount is included in finance costs. At the time of establishing the provision, a corresponding asset
is capitalized and is depreciated over future production from the mining property to which it relates. The provision is
reviewed on an annual basis for changes in cost estimates, discount provision on future obligations required to retire
an asset.

j) Share based payments

The fair value of the equity settled share options (“equity based instruments”) awarded to employees, officers and
directors, is recognized as share based compensation expense over the vesting period of the stock options with a
corresponding increase to equity (share based payments reserve). Upon exercise, shares are issued from treasury
and the amount reflected in share based payment reserve is credited to share capital, adjusted for any consideration
paid.

The fair value of each stock option granted is estimated on the date of the grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model and is expensed over the vesting period, based on the Company’s estimate of equity instruments that will
eventually vest. At the end of each reporting period, the Company revises its estimate of the number of equity
instruments expected to vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognized in net earnings
(loss) or capitalized in mining properties (options granted to individuals involved on specific projects) such that the
accumulated expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share based payment
reserve.

Where the terms and conditions of options are modified before they vest, the increase in the fair value of the options,
measured immediately before and after the modification, is also charged to profit or loss over the remaining vesting
period.

Equity based instruments granted to non-employees are recorded at the fair value of the goods or services received in
profit or loss, unless they are related to the issuance of shares in which case the fair value is recorded as a reduction
of share capital. When the value of goods or services received in exchange for the equity based instruments cannot be
reliably estimated, the fair value is measured by use of a valuation model. The expected life used in the model is
adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions, and
behavioural considerations.

Where a grant of options is cancelled or settled during the vesting period, excluding forfeitures when vesting
conditions are not satisfied, the Company accounts for the cancellation as an acceleration of vesting and recognizes
the amount that otherwise would have been recognized for services received over the remainder of the vesting period.
Any payment made to the employee on the cancellation is accounted for as the repurchase of an equity interest except
to the extent the payment exceeds the fair value of the equity instrument granted, measured at the repurchase date.
Any such excess is recognized as an expense.
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PPX Mining Corp. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Years Ended September 30, 2023 and 2022
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

k) Income taxes

Taxes, comprising both current and deferred income taxes, are recognized in net earnings (loss), except where they
relate to items recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the related taxes are
recognized in other comprehensive income or equity. Deferred income taxes are provided using the balance sheet
liability method, providing for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. As an
exception, deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognized if the temporary differences arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction (other than in a business combination) that affects neither
accounting profit nor taxable profit.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realized or the liability is settled based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the statement of financial position date.

A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
the related tax benefit will be realized.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities, and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the
Company intends to settle its current assets and liabilities on a net basis.

l) Share capital

Common shares, stock options, warants, and conversion features on convertible debentures where the contract can
be settled by issuing a fixed number of shares for a fixed value are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of common shares, conversion features on convertible debentures, stock options and warrants
are recognized as a deduction from equity (share issue costs), net of any tax effects. Share issue costs incurred in
advance of share subscriptions are recorded as deferred assets. Share issuance costs related to uncompleted share
subscriptions are charged to operations. Proceeds from unit placements are allocated between common shares and
warrants issued based on the residual value method, with the common shares being valued first.

The Company uses the Black-Scholes option valuation model to value finder’s warrants issued in private placements.
The fair value assigned to finder’s warrants is recorded as share issue costs and an increase to warrants reserve.
Upon exercise the consideration paid by the holder together with the amount previously recognized is recorded as an
increase to share capital. When the terms of the warrants are modified, no adjustments are recognized in equity.

m) Profit (loss) per share

Basic profit (loss) per share is computed by dividing net profit (loss) available to common shareholders by the
weighted average number of outstanding common shares for the period. In computing diluted profit (loss) per share,
an adjustment is made for the dilutive effect of the exercise of stock options and warrants. The number of additional
shares is calculated by assuming that outstanding stock options and warrants are exercised and that the proceeds
from such exercises were used to acquire common shares at the average market price during the reporting periods. In
periods where a net loss is reported, all outstanding options and warrants are excluded from the calculation of diluted
loss per share, as they are anti-dilutive.

n) Other comprehensive income (loss)

Other comprehensive income (loss) is the change in the Company’s net assets that results from transactions, events
and circumstances from sources other than the Company’s shareholders and includes items that are not included in
net profits such as foreign currency translation.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

o) Segment reporting

An operating segment is a component of an entity:

 that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses (including revenues and

expenses relating to transactions with other components of the same entity);

 whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the entity's chief operating decision maker to make decisions

about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance; and

 for which discrete financial information is available.

The Company has one operating segment, being mineral exploration.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Company’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3, management is required to
make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amount and classification of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revisions affect only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods, if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are the critical judgments and areas involving estimates, that management have made in the process of
applying the Company’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the
consolidated financial statements.

Critical Judgments in Applying Accounting Policies

Critical accounting judgments are accounting policies that have been identified as being complex or involving
subjective judgments or assessments, as follows:

 the point in time that an economic feasibility study has established the presence of proven and probable reserves;

 the determination of the functional currency in accordance with IAS 21, The Effects of Changes in Foreign

Exchange Rates;

 determination of derivative liability;

 determination of commercial production; and

 determination of contingencies.

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

Useful life of plant and equipment

As discussed in note 3(e), the Company reviews the estimated lives of its plant and equipment at the end of each
reporting period. There were no material changes in the lives of plant and equipment for the years ended September
30, 2023 and 2022.

Impairment of assets

The carrying amounts of mining interest, plant and equipment, and advances for assets under construction are
reviewed for impairment if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be
recoverable. If there are indicators of impairment, an exercise is undertaken to determine whether the carrying values
are in excess of their recoverable amount. Such review is undertaken on an asset by asset basis, except where such
assets do not generate cash flows independent of other assets, and then the review is undertaken at the CGU level.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of assets (continued)

The assessment requires the use of estimates and assumptions such as, but not limited to, long-term commodity
prices, foreign exchange rates, discount rates, future capital requirements, resource estimates, exploration potential
and operating performance as well as the CGU definition. It is possible that the actual fair value could be significantly
different from those assumptions, and changes in these assumptions will affect the recoverable amount of the mining
interests. In the absence of any mitigating valuation factors, adverse changes in valuation assumptions or declines in
the fair values of the Company’s CGUs or other assets may, over time, result in impairment charges causing the
Company to record material losses.

The Company considers both external and internal sources of information in assessing whether there are any
indications that mining interests are impaired. External sources of information the Company considers include changes
in the market, economic and legal environment in which the Company operates that are not within its control and affect
the recoverable amount of mining interests. Internal sources of information the Company considers include the
manner in which assets are being used or are expected to be used and indications of economic performance of the
assets.

Gold stream facility

The Company has entered into a Gold Stream Agreement (note 11(a)) which contains a derivative liability. The
valuation of this derivative utilizes a number of assumptions, including discount rate, future gold prices, the probability
of achieving commercial production from the Igor 4 concession, change in expected ounces to be delivered and future
production levels. As at the statement of financial position date, management, due to uncertainties related to the
amount and timing of future ounces to be delivered, has determined the derivative value to be nominal. As at
September 30, 2023 the Company maintains a receivable accrual corresponding to unpaid net profit interest to be
collected during May 2024 according to the terms of the assignment agreement between Sienna Minerals SAC and
PLP (see note 7).

Environmental rehabilitation

Significant estimates and assumptions are made in determining the environmental rehabilitation costs as there are
numerous factors that will affect the ultimate liability payable. These factors include estimates of the extent and costs
of rehabilitation activities, technological changes, regulatory changes, cost increases, and changes in discount rates.
Those uncertainties may result in actual expenditures in the future being different from the amounts currently provided.
The provision represents management’s best estimate of the present value of the future rehabilitation costs required.

5. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

Adoption of New Accounting Standards

The Company has adopted the following new standards, along with any consequential amendments, effective October
1, 2022. These changes were made in accordance with the applicable transitional provisions. The adoption of the new
standards and consequential amendments did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements.

Amendments to IAS 37: Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

The amendments to IAS 37 specify which costs an entity includes in determining the cost of fulfilling a contract for the
purpose of assessing whether the contract is onerous. Costs that relate directly to a contract can either be incremental
costs of fulfilling that contract (examples would be direct labour, materials) or an allocation of other costs that relate
directly to fulfilling contracts (an example would be the allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of property,
plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract). These amendments did not have a material impact on the
Company's consolidated financial statements.

- 20 -



PPX Mining Corp. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Years Ended September 30, 2023 and 2022
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

5. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE (continued)

Adoption of New Accounting Standards (continued)

Amendments to IAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment

With the amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment, proceeds from selling items before the related item of
property, plant and equipment is available for use should be recognized in profit or loss, together with the costs of
producing those items. The Company will therefore need to distinguish between the costs associated with producing
and selling items before the item of property, plant and equipment (pre-production revenue) is available for use and
the costs associated with making the item of property, plant and equipment available for its intended use. For the sale
of items that are not part of a Company’s ordinary activities, the amendments will require the Company to disclose
separately the sales proceeds and related production cost recognized in profit or loss and specify the line items in
which such proceeds and costs are included in the statement of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss).
These amendments does not allow the Company to net the net profit interest against historically capitalized
exploration and evaluation assets.

Accounting Standards Issued But Not Yet Effective

Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

The amendments to IAS1 provide a more general approach to the classification of liabilities based on the contractual
arrangements in place at the reporting date. These amendments are effective for reporting periods beginning on or
after January 1, 2023.

Amendments to IAS 1: Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

This amendment specifies that only covenants that an entity is required to comply with on or before the reporting date
affect the entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability for at least twelve months after the reporting date, which must be
considered when assessing whether to classify the liability as current or non-current. The new amendment is effective
for reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2024, with earlier adoption permitted. The Company is currently
assessing the impact of these amendments.

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2: Disclosure of Accounting Policies

These amendments continue the IASB's clarifications regarding applying the concept of materiality. These
amendments help companies provide useful accounting policy disclosures, and they include: requiring companies to
disclose their material accounting policies instead of their significant accounting policies; clarifying that accounting
policies related to immaterial transactions, other events or conditions are themselves immaterial and do not need to be
disclosed; and clarifying that not all accounting policies that relate to material transactions, other events or conditions
are themselves material. The IASB also amended IFRS Practice Statement 2 to include guidance and examples on
applying materiality to accounting policy disclosures. These amendments are effective for reporting periods beginning
on or after January 1, 2023. The Company is currently assessing the impact of these amendments.

Amendments to IAS 8: Definition of Accounting Estimates

These amendments clarify how companies distinguish changes in accounting policies from changes in accounting
estimates, with a primary focus on the definition of and clarifications on accounting estimates. The distinction between
the two is important because changes in accounting policies are applied retrospectively, whereas changes in
accounting estimates are applied prospectively. Further, the amendments clarify that accounting estimates are
monetary amounts in the financial statements subject to measurement uncertainty. The amendments also clarify the
relationship between accounting policies and accounting estimates by specifying that a company develops an
accounting estimate to achieve the objective set out by an accounting policy. These amendments are effective for
reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023. The Company does not expect there will be a material impact
on the future consolidated financial statements.
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5. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE (continued)

Accounting Standards Issued But Not Yet Effective (continued)

Amendments to IAS 21: Lack of Exchangeability

The amendment to IAS 21, The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates, contains guidance on when a
currency is exchangeable into another currency and how to determine the exchange rate when it is not. The
amendment also adds a disclosure requirement when a currency is not exchangeable. The new amendment is
effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2025 with earlier adoption permitted.

6. FINANCE EXPENSE AND OTHER

Year Ended
September 30,

2023 2022

Gold stream facility interest expense (note 11(a)) $ 36,461 $ 189,589
Convertible note interest expense and accretion (note 11(b)) 30,627 127,723
Convertible debenture interest expense and accretion (note 12) 464,348 -
Promissory note interest expense (note 10) 71,146 136,560
Accretion - environmental closure provision (note 13) 30,463 49,668
Bank charges and other 6,271 12,029

Finance expenses and other $ 639,316 $ 515,569

7. AMOUNTS RECEIVABLE

As at As at
September 30, September 30,

2023 2022

Accounts receivable $ 1,492,635 $ 236,888
Advance of tax installments - 315,255
Sales tax and government receivables 30,248 32,618
Loan receivable - 5,483

$ 1,522,883 $ 590,244

Accounts receivable represents the receivable portion of the net profit interest from Proyectos Le Patagonia S.A.C.
(“Patagonia”). The fair value of receivables approximates their carrying value. None of the amounts included in
receivables at September 30, 2023 are past due.

8. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS AND PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Exploration and Property, plant
Year ended September 30, 2023 evaluation asset and equipment

Cost

At September 30, 2022 $ 7,696,580 $ 1,537,133
Additions 1,039,735 131,667
Revaluation - (41,578)
VAT recoverable (51,519) -
Change in environmental rehabilitation provision 130,367 -
Foreign exchange 4,423 (19,621)

Cost at September 30, 2023 $ 8,819,586 $ 1,607,601
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8. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS AND PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Exploration and Property, plant
Year ended September 30, 2023 evaluation asset and equipment

Accumulated depreciation

At September 30, 2022 $ - $ 158,656
Depreciation - 6,162
Foreign exchange - (1,982)

Accumulated depreciation at September 30, 2023 $ - $ 162,836

Carrying value at September 30, 2023 $ 8,819,586 $ 1,444,765

Year ended September 30, 2022

Cost

At September 30, 2021 $ 8,300,247 $ 1,664,308
Additions 927,259 8,384
Net profit interest received, net of NSR accrual (1,864,176) -
Change in environmental rehabilitation provision 185,004 -
Foreign exchange (108,523) 121,210
Transfer from property, plant and equipment 256,769 (256,769)

Cost at September 30, 2022 $ 7,696,580 $ 1,537,133

Accumulated depreciation

At September 30, 2021 $ - $ 146,198
Depreciation - 197
Foreign exchange - 12,261

Accumulated depreciation at September 30, 2022 $ - $ 158,656

Carrying value at September 30, 2022 $ 7,696,580 $ 1,378,477

Exploration and Evaluation Assets

The Company, through its subsidiary Sienna Minerals S.A.C., has a 100% interest in the Igor Project, located in
Northern Peru. The Igor Project totals approximately 1,300 hectares on four concessions. The production from the Igor
4 concessions is subject to the requirements of a gold streaming facility as disclosed in note 11(a).

On December 4, 2018 the Company filed a pre-feasibility study (‘PFS”) for the 100% owned Igor 4 concession in Peru,
which established proven and probable reserves.

During the year ended September 30, 2020, the Company’s environmental license at the Igor 1 and 3 exploration
projects expired. During the year ended September 30, 2019, the Company’s water use permit had expired. During the
year ended September 30, 2021, the exploration license at the Igor 4 exploration project expired. During the year
ended September 30, 2022 the exploitation license for Igor 4 expired and was subsequently renewed until March
2026.

The Company is currently in the process of completing a 43-101 technical report for the Igor 1, 3 and 4 properties.
Once this is completed, and as the Company ramps up the construction of the plant, the Company will develop a plan
for additional exploration activity on Igor 1 and 3 and the required and relevant permits to complete such activities will
be obtained.

As of September 30, 2023, the exploitation license for Igor 4 remains in good standing as the Company has obtained
an extension.
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8. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS AND PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Exploration and Evaluation Assets (continued)

The Company’s spending in the Igor concession for the years ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 is as follows:

Year Ended
September 30,

2023 2022

Drilling, road and site preparation $ 159,627 $ 256,468
Salaries, claims maintenance and staking 354,561 28,238
Social development 460,068 585,289
Environmental 65,479 57,264

Total additions $ 1,039,735 $ 927,259

The Company earned net profit interest income of $8,689,598 (year ended September 30, 2022 – $8,214,144) on the
Igor 4 concession during the year ended September 30, 2023. $nil (year ended September 30, 2022 – $1,864,176) of
the net profit interest from Patagonia was netted against historically capitalized exploration and exploration costs, and
the remaining net profit interest in the amount of $8,689,598 (year ended September 30, 2022 – $5,852,386) was
recorded as other income in profit or loss during the year ended September 30, 2023.

a) Agreement with Patagonia

The Company entered into a commercial agreement with Patagonia, a Peruvian mining contractor, whereby the
Company granted to Patagonia a right to mine the Igor 4 concession for a certain number of years.  During the term of
the agreement, the Company and Patagonia share the net profits from the mining operation in the Igor 4 concession,
at a ratio of 70%/30% respectively and 75%/25% once the Company builds a processing plant to treat the ore from this
concession.

Patagonia is responsible for obtaining all necessary permits and licenses to carry out mining operations on the Igor 4
concession in order to reach certain production milestones. The Company is responsible for building and installing a
processing plant with a capacity of at least 150 MTPD and to be expanded to 350 MTPD, while Patagonia has the
responsibility to maintain certain operating costs levels.

The Company can terminate the assignment agreement at any time subject to payments to Patagonia as follows:

 if terminated after November 1, 2019, US$3,000,000 less US$5 multiplied by the tons of ore extracted;

 if terminated before November 1, 2019, US$4,000,000 less US$5 multiplied by the tons of ore extracted;

The assignment agreement represents a joint operation as defined in IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements, and as such the
Company recognizes its assets, liabilities, and its share of revenues and expenses from the operation. As the
Company’s Igor 4 project remains in exploration stage and has not reached commercial production based on the
criterias established in the 2018 pre-feasibility study, the net profit interest income received during the year ended
September 30, 2022 had been recorded to reduce the Company’s Igor 4 exploration and evaluation assets in the
amount of $1,864,176, and once the asset was depleted to $Nil, recorded as other income of $5,852,396.

Currently, both parties are negotiating a new agreement that will mainly address certain deficiencies of the original
agreement (and subsequent amendments) that allow different interpretations. On this basis, on July 26, 2023, both
parties subscribed a term sheet, subject to a definitive agreement that has not yet been finalized.
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8. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS AND PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Exploration and Evaluation Assets (continued)

b) Community Agreements

On February 14, 2018, the Company signed a ten-year agreement with the community of Callanquitas in Northern
Peru that provides the Company with the Social License to conduct mining and exploration activities at the Igor
Project, including the ongoing test-mining and bulk-sampling program at Igor 4 concession. The agreement provides
for employment opportunities for the people of Callanquitas, improved road maintenance in the vicinity of the
community, and infrastructure improvements to the local elementary school.

On November 20, 2018, the Company signed an agreement with the Igor community in Northern Peru that provides
the Company with the Social License to build and operate the heap leach facility for processing of the ore from the Igor
4 concession. The agreement provides for employment opportunities for the people of the Igor community, improved
road maintenance in the vicinity of the community, and infrastructure improvements to local schools and medical
facility.

On August 18, 2023, the Company concluded a community meeting and workshop to update its environmental impact
study (for small producers) with the objective of completing the requirements to amend its existing beneficiation plant
permit (heap leach) to one in line with the new plant configuration that the Company is planning to build (CIL and
flotation).

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment at September 30, 2023 includes $1,085,405 (September 30, 2022 - $972,603) for
construction expenses related to the heap leach facility previously planned to be built by the Company on the Igor 4
concession including spending for permits, design and engineering work. 

On August 2018, the Company contracted the services of Big Rock Consulting Inc. (“BRC”), a Canadian entity, for the
manufacturing of certain equipment for the Company’s heap leach plant at Mina Callanquitas for a total of
US$1,913,250. Advances for assets under construction included payments advanced to BRC toward the price of the
equipment. The full contracted amount was considered to be paid in various instalments with the final payments due
once the equipment is delivered. An impairment charge of $629,190 (US$467,572) was recorded for the year ended
September 30, 2020, as certain equipment paid for in advance are no longer available to the Company. 

Property, plant and equipment at September 30, 2023 include $351,746 for land.

9. AMOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

As at As at
September 30, September 30,

2023 2022

Trade payables $ 628,673 $ 980,117
Due to related parties 17,420 383,796
Taxes payable 578,130 -
Acquisition of surface rights - 192,870
RIVI NSR accrual 206,644 690,573

Total amounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 1,430,867 $ 2,247,356

Non-current portion of amounts payable and accrued liabilities

Trade payables $ 67,600 $ -
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9. AMOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES (continued)

The fair value of accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximates their carrying amount. Trade payables relate
mainly to general admin, salary, and contractor services. These payables do not accrue interest and no guarantees
have been granted.

During the year ended September 30, 2023, the Company entered into debt settlement agreements with certain
vendors to settle US$138,000 ($188,495) of outstanding trade payables by paying US$20,000 in cash (paid) and
issuing 5,900,000 common shares of the Company. On March 8, 2023, the Company issued 5,900,000 common
shares to settle the outstanding trade payables (note 14).

During the year ended September 30, 2023, the Company entered into a debt settlement agreement with a former
officer of the Company to settle US$280,000 ($383,796) of outstanding trade payables by paying US$26,928 in cash
and issuing 6,297,800 common shares of the Company. On July 26, 2023, the Company issued 6,297,800 common
shares to settle the outstanding trade payables (note 14).

As a result of the above noted settlements during the year ended September 30, 2023, the Company recorded a gain
on debt settlement of $231,683 (year ended September 30, 2022 – $nil).

10. PROMISSORY NOTES

On April 24, 2019, the Company entered into unsecured promissory note agreements with a former director of the
Company for proceeds of US$50,000 ($66,186). The promissory notes bear interest at 12% per annum payable semi-
annually, starting on December 31, 2019, and matured on June 30, 2020. On February 16, 2023, the Company
entered into a debt settlement agreement with a former director of the Company to settle US$77,032 of outstanding
promissory note. The principal amount of US$50,000 will be settled in staged cash payments and the interest accrued
in the amount of US$27,032 will be settled by the Company issuing 1,320,220 common shares of the Company at a
deemed issue price of $0.0273 (US$0.02) per common share. On March 8, 2023, the Company issued 1,320,220
common shares at a price of $0.03 per common share (note 14) and paid total cash payments of US$50,000 during
the year ended September 30, 2023 to settle the outstanding promissory note.

On June 30, 2019, the Company entered into an unsecured promissory note agreement to repay amounts owing to
the former CFO of the Company. The promissory note has a principal amount of $112,160, bears interest at 12% per
annum payable semi-annually, starting on December 31, 2019, and matured on June 30, 2020.

On July 22, 2019, the Company entered into an unsecured promissory note agreement for proceeds of US$400,000
($525,680). The promissory note bears interest at 12% per annum and matured on September 30, 2019. On
December 22, 2022, the Company entered into a debt settlement agreement to settle US$1,967,551 ($2,685,707) of
outstanding debt, in respect of an outstanding convertible unsecured note issued by the Company on September 25,
2018 in the principal amount of US$1,000,000 (note 11(b)) together with accrued interest in the amount of
US$410,137, and an outstanding promissory note issued by the Company on July 22, 2019 for a loan in the principal
amount of US$400,000 together with accrued interest in the amount of US$157,414, by issuing 98,377,534 common
shares of the Company at a deemed issue price of $0.0273 (US$0.02) per common share. On March 8, 2023, the
Company issued 98,377,534 common shares at a price of $0.03 per common share to settle the outstanding debt
(note 14).

On April 24, 2019, the Company entered into unsecured promissory note agreements with a director of the Company
for proceeds of US$50,000 ($66,187). On January 9, 2020 and January 16, 2020, the Company entered into
unsecured promissory note agreements with the same director of the Company for total proceeds of US$16,754
($21,912). The promissory notes bear interest at 12% per annum payable semi-annually and matured on January 31,
2021. On November 3, 2022, the Company entered into a debt settlement agreement to settle US$88,466 ($120,756)
of outstanding debt, in respect of the outstanding promissory notes issued by the Company on April 24, 2019, January
9, 2020 and January 16, 2020 for a total loan in the principal amount of US$66,754 together with accrued interest in
the amount of US$21,712, by issuing 4,423,308 common shares of the Company at a deemed issue price of $0.0273
(US$0.02) per common share. On March 8, 2023, the Company issued 4,423,308 common shares at a price of $0.03
per common share to settle the outstanding promissory notes (note 14).
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10. PROMISSORY NOTES (continued)

On March 31, 2022, the Company entered into unsecured promissory note agreement to repay amounts owing to the
former employee of the Company for total of $776,162 (US$621,129). The promissory notes bear interest at 10% per
annum. On January 16, 2023, the Company entered into a debt settlement agreement with a former employee of the
Company to settle US$621,129 of outstanding promissory notes and forgive the accrued interest in its entirety, by
issuing an aggregate of 7,306,425 common shares of the Company at a deemed issue price of $0.0273 (US$0.02) per
common share and paying US$475,000 in staged cash payments. On February 17, 2023, the Company issued
7,306,425 common shares at a price of $0.02 per common share and paid US$250,000 of the staged cash payments
during the year ended September 30, 2023 to settle the outstanding promissory note (note 14).

During the year ended September 30, 2023, the Company recorded a gain on debt settlement of $58,067 (year ended
September 30, 2022 – $nil).

Year Ended
September 30,

2023 2022

Balance, beginning of year $ 2,081,746 $ 1,018,586
Transferred (to) from accounts payable (753,382) 776,162
Accrued interest 71,146 136,560
Foreign exchange (5,107) 150,438
Gain on debt settlement (58,067) -
Shares issued for debt settlement (1,154,555) -

Balance, end of year $ 181,781 $ 2,081,746

11. LONG TERM DEBT

As at As at
September 30, September 30,

2023 2022

Gold stream facility (a) $ - $ 5,885,103
Convertible note (b) - 1,949,963

- 7,835,066
Current portion (a)(b) - (7,835,066)

Long term debt $ - $ -

a) Gold Stream Facility

Year Ended
September 30,

Principal portion of the stream facility 2023 2022

Balance, beginning of year $ 5,885,103 $ 5,967,391
Convertible debenture issued for settlement of principal (5,810,000) -
Principal repayments - (509,329)
Foreign exchange (75,103) 427,041

Balance, end of year - 5,885,103

Current portion - (5,885,103)

Non-current portion $ - $ -
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11. LONG TERM DEBT (continued)

a) Gold Stream Facility (continued)

Year Ended
September 30,

GEOs produced on top of principal portion of the stream facility 2023 2022

Balance, beginning of year $ 1,516,603 $ -
Gold streaming expense 2,365,938 1,428,529
Gold stream facility payments (1,073,399) -
Convertible debenture issued for settlement (1,472,907) -
Interest expense 36,461 -
Foreign exchange (38,787) 88,074

Balance, end of year 1,333,909 1,516,603

Current portion 590,664 1,516,603

Non-current portion $ 743,245 $ -

On October 10, 2016, the Company entered into an agreement with RIVI Opportunity Fund LP (“RIVI”) to provide the
Company with an investment of US$5 million in return for a Metal Purchase Agreement (“Gold Stream Facility” or the
“Facility”) on future precious metal production from the Company’s Igor 4 concession, further amended on November
21, 2017. RIVI is entitled to receive the greater of 10% of the Company’s portion of the combined production of gold
and silver ounces from the Igor 4 concession on a Gold Equivalent Ounce (“GEO”) basis and 50 GEOs at a price per
GEO of the lesser of US$400 or 80% the market price of gold on a monthly basis.

The Company received the first tranche of US$2.5 million on October 11, 2016 and the second tranche on December
13, 2017 (total net proceeds of US$4.550 million ($5,907,855), net of US$225,000 finder and restructuring fees for
each tranche). The Company incurred total transaction costs of $875,940 in relation to the gold stream facility,
including $584,833 (US$450,000) for the finder and restructuring fees; $288,113 and $587,827 of the transaction costs
were incurred respectively, during the years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017.

The Facility was classified as a financial liability at FVTPL and is revalued at its fair value on each subsequent
reporting date with the changes in the fair value recorded in profit or loss. Due to the uncertainty of the total expected
ounces to be delivered and the timing of cash flows, the Facility is currently recorded at its face value with the
derivative measured at a nominal value.

The first tranche payment was subject to interest of 10% per annum, payable quarterly in US$ and accruing on daily
balances until the end of the third month after certain production milestones were met. The amended agreement
signed on November 21, 2017 (the “Amended Agreement”) provides for interest at 12%, payable quarterly in US$ and
accruing daily on the full amount of the investment of US$5 million, until a contractual production threshold at Igor 4
has been meet.  Such threshold was met during the year ended September 30, 2022.

During the year ended September 30, 2023, the Company paid to RIVI in cash $nil of interest related to the Facility
(year ended September 30, 2022 – $1,863,765). As at September 30, 2023 and September 30, 2022, there was $nil
accrued interest outstanding.

The amended agreement provides that until equivalent dollar amount of 20,000 GEOs have been delivered to RIVI,
the GEOs will include:

 all production from the Igor 4 concession and any other sources from the first 700 tons of ore processed at the

Company’s plant in any given day;

 production from only Igor 4 for any production above the 700 tons of ore processed in any given day and after

20,000 GEOs have been delivered to RIVI.
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11. LONG TERM DEBT (continued)

a) Gold Stream Facility (continued)

The principal balance of US$5 million is reduced as the GEOs are delivered to RIVI. The amount of reduction for each
period is determined based on the GEOs from the Igor 4 pre-production, multiplied by the difference between the
market price of gold and the lesser of US$400 or 80% the market price of gold. The face value of the gold stream
facility at September 30, 2023 and September 30, 2022 was $nil and US$4,293,502, respectively. Upon expiry of the
term which is the earlier of 40 years and depletion of the mine, any balance remaining unpaid shall be refunded to
RIVI.

During the year ended September 30, 2023, the Company paid to RIVI $1,073,399 (year ended September 30, 2022 –
$509,329) related to GEOs produced. The stream facility at September 30, 2023 and September 30, 2022 entirely
relates to amounts due to RIVI for GEOs produced and not yet paid until that respective date.

As at September 30, 2023, there was $nil (US$nil) principal portion of the stream facility outstanding (September 30,
2022 - $5,885,103 (US$4,293,502)).

During the year ended September 30, 2023, the Company accrued an additional amount of $2,371,309
(US$1,753,927) (year ended September 30, 2022 - $1,516,603 (US$1,106,444)) related to GEOs produced on top of
its principal portion of the stream facility, which resulted in a gold streaming expense of $2,365,938 (US$1,753,927)
(year ended September 30, 2022 - $1,428,529 (US$1,106,444)). Gold stream facility as at September 30, 2023
include GEOs produced on top of its principal portion of the stream facility of $1,297,448 (US$959,651) (September
30, 2022 - $1,516,603 (US$1,106,444)).

Seventy-two months after the Monthly Production Milestone has been met, or when 20,000 GEOs have been delivered
under the Gold Stream Agreement (whichever occurs first), the Company has the option to reduce RIVI’s entitlement
to 5% of the GEOs produced on the Igor 4 concession by making a one-time payment of US$5 million to RIVI, subject
to the price of gold being greater than US$1,200 per ounce. These conditions have not yet been met as at September
30, 2023.

The Company granted RIVI a first and preferred mining tenements mortgage of US$5 million on the Igor concession
and surface land and general security interest (the “Security”) over all of the present and after-acquired assets within
the property. The Security provided to RIVI will cease once the Company has fully paid the US$5 million investment by
RIVI.

On April 30, 2021, the Company signed a Net Smelter Royalty Agreement with RIVI, whereby RIVI is granted an
option to acquire a royalty equal to 2% of Net Smelter Returns (“NSR”) over the Igor, Igor 3 and Igor 4 concessions, in
exchange for reducing $637,000 (US$500,000) of the amounts owed to RIVI by the Company. In addition, the
Company has the option to repurchase 1% of the NSR royalty for US$750,000 until October 21, 2021. The $637,000
(US$500,000) reduction in the amounts owed to RIVI by the Company was recorded to reduce the Company’s
exploration and evaluation assets and to reduce the accrued interest during the year ended September 30, 2021.

On June 1, 2023, the Company entered into a letter agreement with RIVI, whereby the Net Smelter Royalty Agreement
was amended such that the royalty obligation thereunder shall not commence (and none shall be deemed to have
accrued) until January 1, 2023, in consideration for US$540,000 payable to RIVI by the Company. From and after
January 1, 2023, the royalty obligations shall commence in accordance with the terms of the Net Smelter Royalty
Agreement. In addition, the option to repurchase 1% of the NSR royalty is extended in perpetuity at the same price,
US$750,000, but limited to the Igor and Igor 3 concessions. The Igor 4 concession in which the Callanquitas mine is
located is excluded from this repurchase extension. During the year ended September 30, 2023, the Company made
the payment in the amount of $732,903 (US$540,000) and recognized a gain on the amendment of the Net Smelter
Royalty Agreement in the amount of $294,478.
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11. LONG TERM DEBT (continued)

a) Gold Stream Facility (continued)

On February 19, 2023, the Company entered into an amended and restated gold and silver purchase agreement (the
"Amended and Restated GPA") with RIVI, whereby the Company and RIVI have agreed, to restructure the Company's
streaming and payment obligations under the original gold and silver purchase agreement dated October 10, 2016
between the Company and RIVI, as amended (the "Original GPA").

The Amended and Restated GPA provides for the following material changes to the Original GPA:

 Convertible Debenture
The due and outstanding balance of US$5,399,946 owing to RIVI under the Original GPA as at September 30,
2022 will be entirely satisfied by the issuance by the Company of a secured convertible debenture to RIVI for this
amount (the “Convertible Debenture”). The Convertible Debenture will mature on the third anniversary of the date
of issue and bears interest at a rate of 5% per annum, payable semi annually. RIVI may convert all or any part of
the principal amount outstanding into common shares of the Company (the “Shares”), at a conversion price of
US$0.04 per Share (subject to adjustment), subject to a restriction on any conversion which would result in RIVI
owning, on a post-conversion basis, more than 19.9% of the outstanding Shares with the approval of the TSX
Venture Exchange. The Company may prepay all or any portion of the Principal Amount without penalty. The
obligations under the Convertible Debenture will be secured by the same security package granted under the
Original GPA (and which continue under the Amended and Restated GPA) (note 12).

 Removal of Default NSR Royalty Provisions
In the Amended and Restated GPA, all default provisions under the Original GPA that would have required the
Company to grant to RIVI a net smelter returns royalty were eliminated (including any net smelter returns royalties
that RIVI may have earned, but not granted, prior to the entering into of the Amended and Restated GPA).

 Restructuring of Stream Obligations
The Original GPA contemplated monthly delivery obligations to RIVI equal to 10% of the gold equivalent ounces
produced in its Callanquitas Mine (the “Stream Percentage”), currently operated by Patagonia and subject to
certain production milestones. Even though the Amended and Restated GPA continues to accrue gold equivalent
ounces under the same Stream Percentage, the maximum delivery obligation is linked to 30% of the monthly
collected net profit interest attributable to the Company from Patagonia (the “NPI”), rather than the number of gold
equivalent ounces produced in the Callanquitas mine. Any refined metals required to be delivered in excess of the
monthly maximum will accrue in a stream account (with interest at 2.00% per month) until repaid in full. When the
Company receives an annual bulk payment from Patagonia, it must use up to 40% of such payment to satisfy any
accrued stream obligations and interest.

During the year ended September 30, 2023, the Company accrued interest of $36,461 (US$26,968) related to the
refined metals required to be delivered in excess of the monthly maximum per the Amended and Restated GPA.

b) Convertible note

Year Ended
September 30,

2023 2022

Balance, beginning of year $ 1,949,963 $ 1,685,130
Accrued interest 30,627 127,723
Foreign exchange (7,929) 137,110
Loss on debt settlement 142,544 -
Shares issued for debt settlement (2,115,205) -

Balance, end of year $ - $ 1,949,963

- 30 -



PPX Mining Corp. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Years Ended September 30, 2023 and 2022
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

11. LONG TERM DEBT (continued)

b) Convertible note (continued)

On August 9, 2018 the Company signed a subscription agreement with an investor for a US$1.0 million non-secured
convertible note (the “note”). The note bears annual interest at 10% payable at maturity, matures 18 months from
issuance and is convertible into common shares of the Company, at the option of the holder, at a price of US$0.11 per
common share. The Company received the note proceeds of $1,303,600 (US$1,000,000) on August 24, 2018 and
incurred transaction costs of $6,837. 

The convertible note is classified as current liability as at September 30, 2022, as the note matured in February 2020.
On December 22, 2022, the Company entered into a debt settlement agreement to settle the outstanding convertible
note (note 10).

During the year ended September 30, 2023, the Company incurred $30,627 (US$22,554) of interest expense (year
ended September 30, 2022 – $127,723 (US$100,000), respectively) and recorded a loss on debt settlement of
$142,544 (year ended September 30, 2022 – $nil).

12. CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURE

On February 19, 2023, the Company issued a convertible debenture to RIVI in connection to the stream restructuring
totaling $7,282,907 (US$5,399,946) (note 11(a)). The conversion feature does not meet the fixed-for-fixed criteria and
therefore is an embedded derivative that is assessed separately from the host liability. The fair value of the derivative
liability on initial recognition was estimated to be $1,596,617 using the Black-Scholes model with the following
assumptions: share price of $0.02, risk free interest rate of 3.87%, expected volatility of 125.9%, and an expected life
of 3 years. The derivative liability was revaluated as at September 30, 2023 to $2,133,864 using the Black-Scholes
model with the following assumption: share price of $0.03, risk free interest rate of 3.87%, expected volatility of
139.8%, and an expected life of 2.39 years. The host liability was accreted using an effective interest rate of 8.28%
over their term, such that the carrying amount will equal the total face value at maturity.

During the year ended September 30, 2023, the Company repaid $1,348,518 (US$1,000,000) of the principal balance.

Convertible debentures as at September 30, 2023 includes $200,169 (US$148,054) (September 30, 2022 - $nil) of
interest payable.

Derivative
Liability Liability

Convertible debenture Component Component Total

Balance, September 30, 2022 $ - $ - $ -
Convertible debenture issued 5,686,290 1,596,617 7,282,907
Accretion and interest expense 464,348 - 464,348
Foreign exchange (6,638) 8,752 2,114
Principal payment (1,057,902) (290,616) (1,348,518)
Loss on derivative liability revaluation - 819,111 819,111

Balance, September 30, 2023 $ 5,086,098 $ 2,133,864 $ 7,219,962

The maturity analysis of the undiscounted contractual balances of the convertible debenture is as follows:

As at September 30, 2023

Less than one year $ -
One to three years 6,148,896

Total undiscounted convertible debenture 6,148,896
Amount representing implicit interest (1,062,798)

Convertible debenture $ 5,086,098
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13. ENVIRONMENTAL REHABILITATION PROVISION

Year Ended
September 30,

2023 2022

Balance, beginning of year $ 676,552 $ 394,771
Accretion 30,463 49,668
Change in estimates 130,367 185,004
Foreign exchange (8,824) 47,109

Balance, end of year 828,558 676,552

Current portion 352,119 254,721

Non-current portion $ 476,439 $ 421,831

The environmental rehabilitation provision is calculated using a risk free-rate of 5.581% and inflation rate of 3.24%,
with the rehabilitation and remediation spending expected to incur starting 2023. The total undiscounted estimated
rehabilitation provision at September 30, 2023 is $857,373 (US$634,151) (September 30, 2022 – $759,732
(US$554,266)).

As at September 30, 2023, $352,119 (September 30, 2022 – $254,721) of the environmental rehabilitation provision is
classified as current as the exploration permits for the Igor and Igor 3 concessions have expired and have not been
renewed.

14. SHARE CAPITAL

a) Authorized

Unlimited number of common shares, without par value; and unlimited number of preference shares, without par
value.

b) Issued

On March 7, 2022, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement pursuant to which the Company issued
3,583,000 common shares of the Company at a price of $0.06 per share for gross proceeds of $214,980. In
connection with the private placement, the Company paid aggregate finder’s fees of $17,198 to arm’s length finders.

See notes 9, 10 and 11 for common shares issued under various debt settlement agreements.

c) Reserves

Share purchase options

Pursuant to the Company’s share option plan (the "Option Plan"), the Company may grant incentive share options to
directors, officers, employees and consultants of the Company or any subsidiary thereof. The total number of shares
issuable pursuant to the Option Plan is up to a maximum of 10% of the issued and outstanding common shares of the
Company at any given time. The exercise price of each share option shall not be lower than the market price or such
discount from the market price as may be permitted by the stock exchange on which the common shares are listed
and provided that no share option shall have a term exceeding ten years (or such longer period as is permitted by the
stock exchange on which the common shares are listed). The Board of Directors determines the vesting terms of the
options which may vary between grants.
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14. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

c) Reserves (continued)

The number of share options issued to insiders of the Company within a one-year period cannot exceed 10% of the
number of common shares outstanding; no one eligible optionee can hold share options that represent more than 5%
of the total common shares issued and outstanding. Finally, there may not be issued to any one insider and such
insider's associates, within a one-year period, a number of share options exceeding 5% of the number of common
shares outstanding.

Movements in the Company's share options for the years ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

Number of Weighted Average
Stock Options Exercise Price ($)

Balance, September 30, 2021 17,086,000 0.10
Granted 15,000,000 0.04
Expired (16,086,000) 0.10

Balance, September 30, 2022 16,000,000 0.04
Granted 15,000,000 0.04
Expired (1,000,000) 0.09

Balance, September 30, 2023 30,000,000 0.04

On September 22, 2022, the Company granted 15,000,000 share options to certain directors and officers of the
Company. The options vested immediately at the date of grant, are exercisable at a price of $0.04 per share and
expire on September 22, 2029. The fair value of the options granted was estimated to be $407,735 using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions: share price of $0.03, risk free interest rate of 3.15%,
expected volatility of 127.83%, dividend yield of 0%, forfeiture rate of 0%, and an expected life of 7 years.

On March 3, 2023, the Company granted 15,000,000 share options to certain directors and officers of the Company.
The options vested immediately at the date of grant, are exercisable at a price of $0.04 per share and expire on March
3, 2030. The fair value of the options granted was estimated to be $403,286 using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model with the following assumptions: share price of $0.03, risk free interest rate of 3.35%, expected volatility of
123.94%, dividend yield of 0%, forfeiture rate of 0%, and an expected life of 7 years.

Option pricing models require the input of subjective assumptions including the expected price volatility and the
expected option life. Expected price volatility was calculated based on the Company’s historical share prices.
Changes in these assumptions can materially affect the estimated fair value of the stock options granted.

During the year ended September 30, 2023, the Company recorded share-based payments $403,286 (year ended
September 30, 2022 – $407,735).

The summary of the Company's options outstanding and exercisable as at September 30, 2023 is as below:

Expiry Date
Exercise
Price($)

 Remaining
Contractual Life

(years)

Number of
Options

Outstanding

Number of
Options Vested
(Exercisable)

September 22, 2029 0.04    5.98 15,000,000 15,000,000
March 3, 2030 0.04    6.43 15,000,000 15,000,000

0.04    6.21 30,000,000 30,000,000
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15. SEGEMENT INFORMATION

The Company operates in one reportable operating segment, being mineral exploration. Geographic segment
information of the Company as at and for the years ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 is as follows:

As at September 30, 2023 As at September 30, 2022

Canada Peru Total Company Canada Peru Total Company

Total assets $ 381,967 $ 12,238,956 $ 12,620,923 $ 673,437 $ 11,087,898 $ 11,761,335
Total non-current assets - 10,264,351 10,264,351 - 9,075,057 9,075,057
Total liabilities $ 9,242,196 $ 1,752,881 $ 10,995,077 $ 13,133,146 $ 1,224,177 $ 14,357,323

Year Ended September 30, 2023 Year Ended September 30, 2022

Canada Peru Total Company Canada Peru Total Company

Net income (loss) $ (4,347,625) $ 4,595,484 $ 247,859 $ 861,069 $ (561,585) $ 299,484

16. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company’s key management personnel consist of the Company’s officers, directors and companies associated
with them.

Compensation includes consulting and professional fees paid to a company in which the Chief Executive Officer is an
owner, a company in which the former Chief Financial Officer is an owner, amounts paid to the Executive Chairman,
and share based compensation granted to management and directors.

Year Ended
September 30,

2023 2022

Consulting fees, salaries and benefits $ 416,057 $ 359,741
Severance - 383,796
Professional fees 44,000 109,984
Share based compensation 403,286 407,735

$ 863,343 $ 1,261,256

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities at September 30, 2023 includes $nil (September 30, 2022 – $383,796) due to
the former CEO of the Company and $17,420 (September 30, 2022 – $nil) due to a related party. The balances owing
are non-interest bearing. Related party transactions are conducted in the normal course of business and are
measured at the exchange amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the parties.

The Company has agreements with certain members of key management. In the event that there is a change of
control as defined by the agreements, the Company is committed to pay severance payments of salary which amounts
to a total of $408,000. In the event of termination without notice or cause, certain senior management would be entitled
to total of $204,000.
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17. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Management of capital risk

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to pursue the exploration and development of its mineral properties and to maintain a flexible capital
structure. The Company manages its capital structure, being its promissory note, gold stream facility, convertible
debenture and equity components, and makes adjustments to it, based on the funds available to the Company, in
order to support future business opportunities. The Board of Directors does not establish quantitative return on capital
criteria for management, but rather relies on the expertise of the Company’s management to sustain future
development of the business.

The Company’s capital at September 30, 2023 and 2022 is as follows:

As at As at
September 30, September 30,

2023 2022

Share capital $ 65,853,341 $ 62,280,625
Reserves 7,868,113 7,466,854
Deficit (72,095,608) (72,343,467)
Debt financing 8,735,652 11,433,415

$ 10,361,498 $ 8,837,427

The properties in which the Company has an interest are in the exploration stage as at September 30, 2023; the
Company filed a PFS for the Igor 4 concession on December 4, 2018 which identified proven and probable reserves.
The Company is planning to build a heap leach processing plant on the Igor 4 concession; until production from the
Igor 4 concession starts, the Company is dependent on external financing to fund its activities; the Company will be
using its existing working capital and raise additional amounts as needed. A full reassessment of the ore processing
plant is being made, with the possibility of omitting the heap leach facility and passing directly to milling and tank
leaching.

Management reviews its capital management approach on an ongoing basis and believes that this approach, given
the relative size of the Company, is reasonable. There were no changes in the Company’s approach to capital
management during the year ended September 30, 2023. The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital
requirements and does not have exposure to asset-backed commercial paper or similar products.

Carrying values of financial instruments

The carrying values of the financial assets and liabilities at September 30, 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

As at As at
September 30, September 30,

2023 2022

Financial Assets

At fair value through profit or loss
Cash $ 803,751 $ 1,345,207
Restricted cash 2,010 745,496

At amortized cost
Accounts receivable (note 7) 1,492,635 236,888
Loan receivable - 5,483

$ 2,298,396 $ 2,333,074
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17. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Carrying values of financial instruments (continued)

As at As at
September 30, September 30,

2023 2022

Financial Liabilities

At fair value through profit or loss
Gold stream facility (note 11(a)) $ 1,333,909 $ 7,401,706
Derivative liability (note 12) 2,133,864 -

At amortized cost
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 9) 1,430,867 2,247,356
Convertible note (note 11(b)) - 1,949,963
Convertible debenture (note 12) 5,086,098 -
Promissory notes (note 10) 181,781 2,081,746

$ 10,166,519 $ 13,680,771

Fair values of financial instruments

The fair value of receivables, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate their carrying amounts due to
their short terms to maturity.

The fair value hierarchy of financial instruments measured at fair value on the statement of financial position is as
follows:

As at As at
September 30, September 30,

2023 2022

Level 1 Level 1

Cash $ 803,751 $ 1,345,207
Restricted cash $ 2,010 $ 745,496

Level 3 Level 3

Gold stream facility (note 11(a)) $ 1,333,909 $ 7,401,706
Derivative liability (note 12) $ 2,133,864 $ -

Risk management policies

The Company is exposed to financial risks sensitive to changes in commodity prices, foreign exchange and interest
rates. The Company’s Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk
management framework. Currently the Company has not entered into any options, forward or future contracts to
manage its foreign exchange related exposures. Similarly, derivative financial instruments are not used to reduce
these financial risks.

The Company's risk exposures and the impact on the Company's financial instruments are summarized below:
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17. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Risk management policies (continued)

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with counterparty’s inability to fulfill its payment obligations. Financial
instruments that potentially subject the Company to a concentration of credit risk consist primarily of cash and
accounts receivable. The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk for cash and receivables is the amounts
disclosed in the consolidated statements of financial position. The Company limits its exposure to credit loss by
placing its cash with major financial institutions. 

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they become due. The
Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its
liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions without incurring unacceptable losses or risking harm
to the Company’s reputation. At September 30, 2023, the Company has a cash balance of $803,751 to settle its
obligations related to accounts payable and accrued liabilities of $1,430,867, gold stream facility of $1,333,909,
environmental rehabilitation provision of $828,558, convertible debenture of $5,086,098, derivative liability of
$2,133,864, and promissory notes of $181,781.

Currency risk

The Company is exposed to the financial risk related to the fluctuation of foreign exchange rates. The Company
operates in Peru and Canada and a portion of its expenses are incurred in United Sates dollars and Peruvian Soles. A
significant change in the currency exchange rates between the US dollar relative to the Canadian dollar and the
Peruvian Soles to the Canadian dollar could have an effect on the Company’s results of operations, financial position
and cash flows. The Company has not hedged its exposure to currency fluctuations.

At September 30, 2023, the Company is exposed to currency risk through the following assets and liabilities
denominated in US dollars and Peruvian Soles:

Peruvian United States
Soles (S/.) Dollars (US$)

Assets

Cash 1,368,629 $ 207,709
Restricted cash 5,640 -
Accounts receivable 4,172,197 -
Prepaids and advances 27,108 1,698

5,573,574 $ 209,407

Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (2,421,697) $ (423,761)
Convertible debenture - (3,761,907)
Derivative liability - (1,578,302)
Gold stream facility - (986,619)

(2,421,697) $ (6,750,589)

At September 30, 2023, USD amounts were converted at a rate of USD 1.00 to CAD 1.352; Peruvian Soles amounts
were converted at a rate of Peruvian Sol 1.00 to CAD 0.3564.
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17. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Risk management policies (continued)

Currency risk (continued)

Based on the above net exposures as at September 30, 2023, and assuming that all other variables remain constant,
a 10% change of the Canadian dollar against the US dollar and Peruvian Soles would result in a change of
approximately $772,035 in the Company’s net loss for the year.

Interest rate risk

The Company considers the interest rate risk to be insignificant, as all of its interest-bearing debt have fixed interest
rates.

Price risk

The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity and equity prices. Equity price risk is defined as the
potential adverse impact on the Company’s earnings due to movements in individual equity prices or general
movements in the level of the stock market. Commodity price risk is defined as the potential adverse impact on
earnings and economic value due to commodity price movements and volatilities. The Company closely monitors
commodity prices of gold, individual equity movements, and the stock market to determine the appropriate course of
action to be taken by the Company.

18. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company has ongoing commitments with the Callanquitas and Igor communities as described in the Community
Agreement section of note 8.

As at September 30, 2023, the Company has undiscounted environmental closure costs (note 13) for remediation and
rehabilitation work on the Company’s Igor properties of $857,373 (US634,151).

During the year ended September 30, 2021, the Company was notified of a claim filed by Patagonia against the
Company, for damages as a result of incomplete construction of the processing plant. On November 5, 2023, the
Supreme Court of Lima dismissed the case on the basis that any dispute between the parties must be settled by
arbitration, as per the terms of the assignment agreement between Sienna Minerals SAC and PLP. As at September
30, 2023, no arbitration claim has been filed by PLP.

On August 5, 2016, Peruvian Precious Metals Corp. (former name of PPX Mining Corp.) was notified of a claim filed by
Abraham Gleiser Ludmir requesting the payment of an unpaid finder’s fee. The Company’s local counsel is in the view
that the case shall be dismissed on the bases that the Company honoured such payment to a related third party of Mr.
Gleiser which signed the finder’s fee agreement with the Company.

Based on Peruvian laws governing mining concessions, the Company is required to achieve certain minimum
production requirements within the twentieth year counted from the year following the year in which the mining
concessions title is granted to avoid certain penalties.
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19. INCOME TAXES

A reconciliation of income taxes at Canadian statutory rates of 27% for the years ended September 30, 2023 and 2022
with the reported income taxes is as follows:

Year Ended
September 30,

2023 2022

Net income before taxes $ 3,188,129 $ 299,484

Computed expected income tax recovery at Canadian statutory rates 860,795 80,861
Effect of tax rate in other jurisdiction (108,066) -
Non-deductible expenses 109,186 110,653
Effect of taxes paid in Peru 2,373,049 -
Impact of tax reassessment, true up and other 3,361,337 -
Changes in the unrecognized deferred tax assets (3,656,031) (191,514)

Income tax expense $ 2,940,270 $ -

The significant components of the Company's unrecognized deferred income tax assets are as follows:

As at As at
September 30, September 30,

2023 2022

Deferred income tax assets
Mining interest $ 4,873,000 $ 8,266,000
Operating losses carried forward 9,496,000 10,034,000
Share issuance costs 8,000 21,000
VAT 44,000 50,000
Capital assets 664,000 597,000
Other 394,000 167,000

$ 15,479,000 $ 19,135,000
Unrecognized deferred tax assets (15,479,000) (19,135,000)

Net deferred tax assets $ - $ -

At September 30, 2023, the Company has available non-capital tax losses for Canadian income tax purposes of
approximately $33,683,000 available for carry-forward to reduce future years’ taxable income which expire between
2026-2043. The Company has approximately $1,360,000 of losses in Peru which can be carried forward indefinitely
but are limited to 50% of taxable income each subsequent year.

In addition, the Company has available mining interest and capital asset tax pools of approximately $22,546,000 and
$3,637,000, respectively, in Canada and Peru, which may be deductible at various rates dictated by relevant tax
authorities. Those amounts are subject to review by relevant tax authorities and are subject to revision. Future tax
benefits, which may arise as a result of applying these deductions to taxable income, have not been recognized in
these accounts as the Company does not have a history of earnings.

During the year ended September 30, 2023, the Company received a tax re-assessment from the Peruvian tax
authorities, rejecting the Company’s historical election to offset taxable income in accordance with System B, whereby
the Company could carry forward 50% of historical net income generated losses with no time limitation of expiry. As a
result the Company was required to pay additional taxes relating to 2022 and this reduced the Company’s carry
forward losses and other tax bases in Peru.
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20. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On October 25, 2023, the Company received from the regional authority of the Energy and Mines Ministry of Peru or
Gerencia Regional de Energía, Minas e Hidrocarburos de La Libertad (GREMH – LL) the notification 002403-2023-
GRLL-GGR-GREMH with its technical and legal findings to the Company’s initial filing related to the environmental
portion of the permitting application to amend its existing construction permit to build its new beneficiation plant at the
Igor Project. On November 17, 2023, the Company filed its response to the regional authority addressing the totality of
its findings. The Company is pending approval of the environmental portion of its permitting application (F1) to build
the planned CIL/Flotation plant. The Company is in the process of submitting the detail engineering, the last portion of
the permitting application (F2).

On December 29, 2023, the Company and a major shareholder entered into a Definitive Agreement for a US$
6,000,000 debt facility to fund most of the capital cost for the CIL and flotation plant that the Company intends to build
in its Igor Project, located in La Libertad, Peru. The plant will process oxides and sulfides currently mined from its high-
grade Callanquitas Mine, and other important satellite deposits that constitute part of the Project in the near future. The
first tranche of the US$6,000,000 debt facility will be funded once certain conditions precedent are met.

The key terms of this financing are as follows:

 US$6,000,000 total debt facility to be disbursed in 4 tranches.

 11.75% annual interest rate.

 1.5 years grace period, paying only interest, to cover the construction and commissioning periods.

 3 years principal amortization period, following the grace period.

 The facility will be administered through a trust structure that will guarantee the repayment of the loan obligations.

In addition, other trusts will be established to ensure the construction funding flow and to protect the surface rights

and shares of the Peruvian subsidiary holding the construction and processing permits.

 Total and partial prepayments are authorized with no penalties.

 Certain conditions precedent are applicable to this transaction, including TSXV approval.

 A 3% finder’s fee payable in shares of the Company is applicable to this transaction.
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